FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/31/2020 9:09 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/31/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99380-7

[Court of Appeals No. 79354-3-I]

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TODD PIERCE,

Respondent,

v.

BILL & MELINDA GATES FOUNDATION,

Petitioner.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

**K&L GATES LLP** 

Robert B Mitchell, WSBA #10874 rob.mitchell@klgates.com Ryan J. Groshong, WSBA #44133 ryan.groshong@klgates.com Maricarmen C. Perez-Vargas, WSBA #54344 maricarmen.perez-vargas@klgates.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2900 Seattle, WA 98104-1158

Telephone: (206) 623-7580

# **

# I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (the "Foundation"), appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II.

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On November 16, 2020, Division One issued a decision affirming in part and reversing in part a \$4.64 million judgment in favor of the Foundation's former Chief Digital Officer, Todd Pierce ("Pierce"). *Bill & Melinda Gates Found. v. Pierce*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 475 P.3d 1011 (2020). *See* Appendix A. On December 4, 2020, the Foundation moved for reconsideration, seeking reassignment of the trial judge. *See* Appendix B. Division One denied this motion on December 28, 2020. *See* Appendix C.

# III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Although the Foundation fulfilled every obligation in Pierce's written employment agreement, the court of appeals held that it breached an oral promise of a "far-reaching and transformational" job. An action for breach of contract requires the plaintiff to establish a promise that is sufficiently definite to be legally enforceable. Even if Pierce's contract included oral statements about a "transformational" job, such statements are too vague to be enforceable. Did the court err in concluding otherwise?
- B. Because Pierce was an at-will employee, the Foundation was entitled to modify his job duties at any time, in its discretion. Did the court

of appeals err in holding the Foundation liable for breach of contract because it prioritized some of Pierce's job duties over others?

- C. An implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is inconsistent with an at-will employment agreement but might be recognized if there is egregious employer abuse. Did the court of appeals err in holding that the Foundation breached the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, even while implicitly acknowledging the absence of egregious employer abuse?
- D. A party that establishes a breach of contract is entitled to recover expectation damages. Pierce had no such damages, and he was paid in full. Did the court of appeals err in holding that Pierce could recover anything other than nominal damages for his "rather ephemeral loss"?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The court of appeals has fairly summarized the facts underlying the parties' dispute. *See* 475 P.3d at 1014–16. We highlight key points below.

In 2014, Dr. Sue Desmond-Hellman became the Foundation's CEO. RP 491. Although the trustees govern all Foundation strategies, the CEO and the Executive Leadership Team ("ELT") direct day-to-day operations. RP 514, 504. Shortly after Desmond-Hellmann joined the Foundation, she hired Leigh Morgan to assess the Foundation's operations. RP 1459–60. Morgan was then named Chief Operating Officer. RP 523. In that role, she oversaw IT, HR, security, and facilities. RP 1461–63.

Morgan had no prior experience working in or supervising an IT operation, RP 1465, and reached out to Pierce for support. Ex. 1; RP 1469–70. Morgan knew Pierce from working together at Genentech, a Bay Area biotechnology company. RP 523–24, 257. When she contacted Pierce, he was a senior vice president at Salesforce.com. Ex. 1; RP 284.

Morgan told Pierce that there was "heavy lifting" to be done in the Foundation's IT operation. Ex. 1. After Morgan sought Pierce's advice, their discussions moved to the possibility of his working at the Foundation. Exs. 3, 4. Pierce understood that managing IT operations would be part of his job but said he was interested only if his Foundation job was broader than that of a traditional Chief Information Officer. RP 998, 538–39.

Morgan and Pierce discussed the possibility of Pierce joining the Foundation as its Chief Digital Officer ("CDO"). RP 998. The Foundation had never employed a CDO, and Pierce had never worked as one. RP 996. Morgan and Pierce discussed getting the Foundation's IT programs in order, managing its systems upgrades, and building a cross-Foundation digital strategy that would amplify and expand upon the work that the Foundation was already doing. RP 998–99.

In October 2014, Morgan arranged for Pierce to travel to Seattle and meet with the Foundation's senior leadership. In Pierce's meeting with Desmond-Hellmann, she told him to be sure to ask for what he wanted from

the Foundation. RP 1004. Pierce made three specific requests: (1) to be a CDO, (2) to be a member of the ELT, and (3) to report directly to the CEO. RP 533. The Foundation agreed to his first two requests but rejected the third, instead informing Pierce that he would report to Morgan. RP 540. Morgan and Desmond-Hellmann both told Pierce that fixing the Foundation's IT systems would be a priority. RP 539; *see also* RP 1006.

Morgan then set up a meeting between Pierce and Bill Gates and arranged for him to meet with the Presidents of the Foundation's U.S. Program and Global Health divisions. Ex. 217. Before the meeting with Gates, Morgan told Pierce that the "CDO role description is still forming." Ex. 13. She sent him a draft list of CDO "accountabilities" and asked for his input. Id. Pierce responded that he was not able to find "quality time to build out a brief for the CDO role," but that what Morgan had written was "broad enough to give a significant opportunity." Ex. 218. Aside from one minor change, Pierce did not offer any revisions. See id. Pierce also stated that he had "done some research on the CDO role," the results of which he was forwarding. *Id.* The articles Pierce sent to Morgan noted that the CDO role is "new, untested and ... in a state of evolution." Id. Based on their discussions, Morgan sent Pierce a list of "high level job accountabilities" that were crafted with room for Pierce to develop a role "with significant breadth" and one "that meets [the Foundation's] current need." Ex. 221.

The Foundation sent Pierce an offer letter in January 2015, Ex. 231, which he signed and returned. Ex. 256. He did not seek any revisions to the letter or ask for any additional commitments. *Id.* The offer letter, which the parties agree was an enforceable contract, set forth the terms of Pierce's employment. RP 1053–56. In exchange for Pierce's services as CDO, the Foundation agreed to pay him a \$425,000 annual salary, a \$100,000 signing bonus, retirement contributions equal to 15% of his salary, and relocation benefits. Ex. 256. The letter stated that Pierce's employment would be "at will' and may be terminated by [Pierce] or the [F]oundation at any time for any reason with or without cause or advance notice." *Id.* Pierce understood that at-will employment meant (1) he could be terminated at any time, and (2) his job duties could be shifted. RP 1056–57, 951–52.

Pierce began working at the Foundation as its CDO in April 2015, RP 1060, and started developing a digital strategy. Ex. 279. In November 2015, Pierce sent Desmond-Hellmann an email outlining his initial thoughts on a digital strategy. Ex. 40. Desmond-Hellmann questioned his focus on "white spaces," i.e., new program strategies, rather than collaboration with the Foundation's existing programs. *Id.* She stressed the importance of pacing, given the breadth of his proposal. *Id.* Pierce agreed these concerns were legitimate. RP 1338–39. In January 2016, Pierce gave a presentation on his digital strategy to the ELT, entitled "Digital Foundation." Ex. 391.

Foundation executives supported Pierce's pursuit of his digital vision despite having serious concerns about his performance. Pierce also had conflicts with his boss. Before he was hired, Pierce understood that he would report to Morgan. Ex. 256. Despite this, he insisted on reporting directly to CEO Desmond-Hellmann. Exs. 367, 40, 553, 554. Concerned that Pierce was attempting to bypass or work around her, Morgan told the Foundation's Chief HR Officer that she was considering terminating Pierce over this and other issues. Ex. 562; RP 1582–83.

In September 2016, Morgan met with Pierce to address additional concerns with his conduct. RP 1643. Morgan discussed issues regarding Pierce's fit at the Foundation as well as an investigation into Pierce's expense reimbursement practices and a related, violent outburst involving his executive assistant. RP 908–09, 2032–34, 2043–45, 1673–76. Pierce was terminated shortly thereafter. RP 910–11.

On April 17, 2017, Pierce filed a complaint asserting claims for breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and negligent misrepresentation. CP 3–4. Pierce alleged that the Foundation breached the contract not by terminating him but rather by failing to give him the duties of a CDO. *Id.* 

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *E.g.*, RP 620 (CEO received negative feedback regarding Pierce from several members of the ELT), 617–18 (Pierce was not a "visible leader" within his IT department), 2169 (Pierce "wasn't present" at the Foundation), 1799 (Pierce failed to articulate his digital strategy with a "level of specificity that would have allowed [the Foundation] to operationalize [it]"), 1800 (Pierce's discussion of his "digital foundation" was too abstract).

Following a ten-day bench trial, King County Superior Court Judge Catherine Shaffer rejected Pierce's negligent misrepresentation claim but ruled for him on his breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims. CP 8, 19–22. The trial court found that the Foundation breached its contract by failing to give Pierce a "far-reaching and transformational" role. CP 19. The trial court found that this breach occurred in November 2015, seven months after he began working at the Foundation. CP 20. Using a reliance measure of damages, the trial court awarded Pierce \$88,104 in wages and \$4,547,140 in stock that he gave up by leaving Salesforce. CP 206.

The court of appeals, while acknowledging that "[t]he specific promise at the heart of the negotiations for Pierce's employment may well have been vague and unenforceable in other circumstances involving different parties," affirmed the trial court's finding of breach of contract with respect to the Foundation's alleged failure to provide Pierce a "farreaching and transformational" CDO position. 475 P.3d at 1013–14.

The court of appeals struck the trial court's conclusion of law regarding promissory estoppel and reversed its rulings on damages. *Id.* at 1019–23. Although it acknowledged that "the proper measure of damages is nominal" under Washington law, Division One said that "the facts of the case at hand are such that we are not so constrained. The context and parties are unique and the stakes high, therefore we find it proper to look beyond

nominal damages." *Id.* at 1022. The court remanded the case so that the trial judge, whose conduct it described as "[h]eavy handed," *id.* at 1024,<sup>2</sup> could determine the value of Pierce's "rather ephemeral loss." 475 P.3d at 1022.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), and (4). The court of appeals' decision conflicts with settled precedent regarding the requirements for a binding promise, the nature of at-will employment, and the measure of damages for breach of an at-will agreement. Division One's rationale for refusing to apply settled precedent also violates constitutional guarantees of equal justice under law. These issues are of substantial public interest, and they should be determined by this Court.

# A. A pre-hire discussion of a "far-reaching and transformational" role is too vague to be an enforceable promise.

Pierce's contract claim turns on an alleged offer of a "far-reaching and transformational" role, which he asserts is an enforceable oral promise. It is not. Division One's decision conflicts with decisions of this Court, as well as published decisions by the court of appeals, holding that contract terms must be *definite*. "[I]f a term is so 'indefinite that a court cannot decide just what it means, and fix exactly the legal liability of the parties,' there cannot be an enforceable agreement." *Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v.* 

8

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Appendix B (trial judge testified, interrupted counsel, intervened in favor of Pierce during cross-examination, attacked Morgan, and prohibited objections to its questions).

*Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 178, 94 P.3d 945 (2004) (quoting *Sandeman v. Sayres*, 50 Wn.2d 539, 541, 314 P.2d 428 (1957)). If a supposed promise "is so indefinite it cannot be enforced," it is illusory. *Stewart v. Chevron Chem. Co.*, 111 Wn.2d 609, 613, 762 P.2d 1143 (1988).

The burden of proving a contract, whether express or implied, is on the party asserting it. *Bogle & Gates, PLLC v. Zapel*, 121 Wn. App. 444, 448, 90 P.3d 703 (2004). To be enforceable, a promise must be "clear and definite." *See Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 173–74, 876 P.2d 435 (1994) (noting in analyzing a promissory estoppel claim that "[t]he requirement of a clear and definite promise is consistent with this state's terminable at will doctrine" and that statements typical of those made in the interviewing process do not demonstrate a clear and definite promise).

"An enforceable contract requires, among other things, an offer with *reasonably certain* terms." *Andrus v. State Dep't of Transp.*, 128 Wn. App. 895, 898–99, 117 P.3d 1152 (2005) (emphasis in original) (holding that an oral offer of employment revoked the following day was not an enforceable employment contract because it lacked definition of key terms, including start date, salary, and benefits information). Here, the parties agree that the Foundation's offer letter to Pierce was an enforceable contract establishing the terms of Pierce's employment. RP 1053–56. These terms included Pierce's title, compensation, and benefits; they also included notice that

Pierce's employment was at-will and terminable by the Foundation at any time for any reason without cause or advance notice. Ex. 256.

Pierce's contract did not spell out what it would mean to be the Foundation's CDO. *See id.* Nor did Pierce, during his negotiations with the Foundation, participate meaningfully in defining the role he sought to fill. *See* 475 P.3d at 1017 ("Morgan attempted to engage Pierce in defining what a CDO would be at the Foundation, but by his own admission, [Pierce] did not participate in that critical stage of the process . . . ."). Pierce agreed that Morgan's idea of the CDO role was broad enough to give a significant opportunity; Morgan said her description had "significant breadth" to meet the Foundation's needs. *See* Exs. 218, 221. The definition was left open.

The court of appeals acknowledged that "[t]he specific promise at the heart of the negotiations for Pierce's employment *may well have been vague and unenforceable in other circumstances involving different parties*," but nevertheless affirmed the trial court's finding of breach of contract because "*the Foundation was uniquely situated* to provide precisely the opportunity it jointly envisioned and bargained for with Pierce." 475 P.3d at 1014 (emphasis added). The court thus focused on the nature of the parties rather than the nature of the promise. *Id.* at 1017 ("[T]he agreement between Pierce and the Foundation is exceedingly unique in that both *parties* are high-level innovators in their respective fields and the

resources available . . . at the Foundation likely do not exist within most other organizations."), 1018 (the "Foundation is the largest charitable foundation in the world, with . . . access to resources to securely anchor such an offer well within the realm of possibility"), 1019 ("As expansive as the language was that conveyed the promise, the Foundation was uniquely situated to provide exactly that . . . .") (emphasis added throughout).

Division One's focus on the parties rather than on the absence of a sufficiently definite promise conflicts with established principles of contract law. At least as troubling, the court of appeals has created rules that apply only to the Foundation and special benefits for Pierce that do not apply to other litigants. Washington law does not permit this kind of partiality.

Article I, section 12 of the Washington Constitution forbids any law "granting to any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation . . . privileges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens, or corporations." The purpose of the privileges and immunities clause "is to secure equality of treatment of all persons." *State ex rel. Bacich v. Huse*, 187 Wash. 75, 80, 59 P.2d 1101 (1936), *overruled on other grounds*, *Puget Sound Gillnetters Ass'n v. Moos*, 92 Wn.2d 939, 603 P.2d 819 (1979). "[A]rticle I, section 12 was intended to prevent favoritism and special treatment for a few to the disadvantage of others." *Martinez-Cuevas v. DeRuyter Bros. Dairy, Inc.*, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 475 P.3d 164, 171 (2020).

The court of appeals has approved "special treatment for a few," executive-level employees of the Foundation, in enforcing promises that would not be sufficiently definite for enforcement in any other context. This is a blatant departure from principles of equal justice and the rule of law.<sup>3</sup>

# B. The Foundation was entitled to modify Pierce's job duties.

Even if it were possible to measure what is and is not a "far-reaching and transformational" job and to determine whether the promise of such a job has been breached, the court of appeals' ruling that the Foundation could not modify Pierce's duties contradicts the law of at-will employment. For this reason, too, its breach-of-contract holding is erroneous.

An employer may modify the terms of an at-will contract as it chooses so long as the modification applies prospectively. *Duncan v. Alaska USA Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 148 Wn. App. 52, 76, 78 n.100, 199 P.3d 991 (2008). "[O]f necessity, the greater right in either party to terminate without cause include[s] the lesser right to unilaterally and prospectively modify contract terms unilaterally." *Id.* at 77. Practically, the "new contract is formed when the employer communicates the new terms (offer), the

<sup>3</sup> It is no answer to say that the Foundation has resources that can be deployed to realize

12

bold ambitions. The Foundation's assets are devoted to addressing global challenges of public health and equitable development. They are not meant to provide financial rewards to high-level employees beyond those agreed upon by the parties. In any case, the problem with a promise too vague to be enforceable is not that it cannot be achieved but that its achievement cannot be measured or determined by any court. *Cf. Havens*, 124 Wn.2d at 174 (plaintiff was told that setup and operation would be "his show").

employee works after receiving notice (acceptance), and the employee continues in employment although free to terminate (consideration)." *Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 760, 769, 145 P.3d 1253 (2006).

This Court has refused to impose liability for an employer's decision to modify the terms of employment for an at-will employee. *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 19–20, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) (holding that there is no tort for "wrongful transfer" and that an employee cannot recover for disciplinary action short of actual discharge, particularly where there is no loss in pay, rank, job classification, or other benefits). Because courts are "ill-equipped to act as super personnel agencies," they should refrain from "interfering with an employer's discretion to make personnel decisions." *Id*.<sup>4</sup>

If an employer does not breach an at-will agreement by transferring an employee to an entirely new job, it certainly cannot be said to breach an at-will contract by asking an employee to focus on a specific, acknowledged job responsibility and to devote less time to the allegedly "transformational" aspects of his job, with no change in salary and benefits. Yet this is the breach that the trial court found and the court of appeals upheld.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Like Pierce, the plaintiff in *White* did not assert and the Court did not address any claim under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (ch. 49.60 RCW), which may permit a plaintiff to seek relief for a demotion or "adverse transfer." *Harrell v. State ex rel. Dep't of Soc. Health Servs.*, 170 Wn. App. 386, 398, 285 P.3d 159 (2012).

The court of appeals dismissed the Foundation's argument:

While the Foundation is correct that it retained the ability to modify Pierce's job duties because of his status as an at-will employee, what they could not do, based on the duty of good faith and fair dealing, was fundamentally change what it meant to be the CDO of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. To do so would render that fundamental promise illusory.

475 P.3d at 1018. Aside from the court's error in implying a duty of good faith and fair dealing, addressed below, its holding does not withstand scrutiny. First, the court assumes that telling Pierce to focus on his IT responsibilities was a "fundamental[] change" in his job even though those responsibilities were always part of his job. Second, the court assumes that "what it meant to be the CDO of the . . . Foundation" is sufficiently definite to be legally enforceable despite the absence of any definition in the parties' contract. And third, the court turns the principle it purports to recognize—that the Foundation was entitled to modify Pierce's job duties—on its head.

The trial court found that the Foundation employed Pierce for seven months before it purportedly breached its contract by failing to allow him to pursue the duties he wanted. Under Washington law, the Foundation could have terminated his at-will employment at that time without liability. Pierce understood that the Foundation could change his job duties at any time, and he agreed to the alleged change that occurred in November 2015 by continuing to work. The court of appeals erred in concluding otherwise.

# C. The implied duty of good faith and fair dealing does not apply here.

The court of appeals' holding that the Foundation owed Pierce an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing hinges on its characterization of their agreement as a bilateral contract. Regardless of how the agreement is described, the "promise" to which the implied duty allegedly attached was not sufficiently definite to be enforceable. The only enforceable agreement between the Foundation and Pierce was an at-will employment agreement, and this Court has held that such contracts do not contain an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing.

# 1. The terms of a bilateral contract must be clear and definite.

The circumstances surrounding the formation of the Foundation's agreement with Pierce do not change the requirement that any promises contained therein must be clear and definite to be enforceable. *See Keystone*, 152 Wn.2d at 178; *Cook v. Johnson*, 37 Wn.2d 19, 23, 221 P.2d 525 (1950) (both unilateral and bilateral contracts require promises); *Flower v. T.R.A. Indus., Inc.*, 127 Wn. App. 13, 27, 111 P.3d 1192 (2005) ("The fundamental difference between a unilateral contract and a bilateral contract is the method of acceptance."). "[T]here is no 'free-floating' duty of good faith and fair dealing that is unattached to an existing contract. The duty exists only 'in relation to performance of a *specific contract term.*" *Keystone*,

152 Wn.2d at 177 (emphasis added) (citation omitted) (quoting *Badgett v. Sec. State Bank*, 116 Wn.2d 563, 569–70, 807 P.2d 356 (1991)).

To the extent that there was any bilateral agreement regarding the duties of a CDO (a role that Pierce admittedly made no effort to define and one that his employment contract also does not define), such an agreement was not sufficiently definite to be enforceable. Pierce's written at-will contract for employment allowed the Foundation to modify Pierce's duties as it saw fit, and the Foundation did not breach that contract.

# 2. At-will employment agreements do not include an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing.

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