FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/29/2021 2:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Case No. 993807

# TODD PIERCE, Plaintiff/Respondent-Cross-Petitioner, v. BILL & MELINDA GATES FOUNDATION, Defendant/Petitioner.

\_\_\_\_

Lindsay L. Halm, WSBA #37141 Rebecca J. Roe, WSBA #7560 Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondent-Cross-Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

# SCHROETER GOLDMARK & BENDER

500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000

# **

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

## V. ARGUMENT

# A. Division One Erred in Striking Pierce's Promissory Estoppel Claim

This Court should review Part II of Division One's decision in which it accepts the Foundation's argument that promissory estoppel "does not

apply" because a contract "governs." 475 P.3d at 1019. This contract is the very one the Foundation insists is unenforceable, modifiable, and immune to good faith. Pierce had every right and reason to pursue both contract and promissory estoppel theories at trial, the judge considered both, and then guarded against double recovery. CP22. This was entirely proper.

Rather than strike the claim, Division One should have affirmed the judgment on promissory estoppel grounds. Indeed, "the judgment of the trial court will not be reversed when it can be sustained on any theory." *Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co., Ltd.*, 104 Wn.2d 751, 758, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985); accord Palin v. Gen. Const. Co., 47 Wn.2d 246, 251, 287 P.2d 325 (1955). Such is the case here. Whatever the Foundation may argue about the availability of damages under *contract*, there is no question the trial judge had discretion to award damages at equity for Pierce's detrimental reliance. *See Crafts v. Pitts*, 161 Wn.2d 16, 23, 162 P.3d 382 (2007) ("Equity will not suffer a wrong to be without a remedy.") None of the Foundation's assignments of error below challenged such discretion and the record on Pierce's promissory estoppel claim supports the verdict. *See Sprague*, 104 Wn.2d at 758 (verdict affirmed despite jury using wrong method to calculate damages where another method sustained the result).

In striking the claim, Division One appears to have confused attempts to "recover" twice with alternate theories of liability. 475 P.3d at 1019. As a

factual matter, there was no double recovery here; the reliance damages were simply the same amount with respect to both claims (and the court did not award them twice). As a legal matter, contract and promissory estoppel claims are routinely brought and tried together. *Hellbaum v. Burwell & Morford*, 1 Wn. App. 694, 699-700, 463 P.3d 225 (1969) (upholding verdict on both breach and promissory estoppel grounds); *Flower*, 127 Wn. App. at 33 (remanding contract and promissory estoppel claims for trial); *Corbit v. J. I. Case Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 522, 538-40, 424 P.2d 290 (1967) (same as to one defendant); *Cweklinsky v. Mobil Chem. Co.*, 364 F.3d 68, 78 (2d Cir. 2004) (remanding contract and equity claims for trial with direction to avoid double recovery); *see also* Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 301A.01, Cmt. (7th ed.) ("Additional or alternative claims"). 17

Division One's earlier decision in *Spectrum Glass v. Pub. Util. Dist.*No. 1 of Snohomish Cty. (the sole case cited below) does not compel a contrary conclusion. There, the plaintiff attempted to use promissory estoppel to circumvent the express terms of a binding contract. 129 Wn. App. 303, 318, 119 P.3d 854 (2005). *Spectrum* cannot be read to preclude a plaintiff from pursuing an alternate theory at trial where the very existence of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Indeed, had the trial court struck Pierce's promissory estoppel claim prior to trial, such decision would have been reversible error. *See Cweklinsky*, 364 F.3d at 78.

contract is disputed.<sup>18</sup> While Washington courts may not have had occasion to make this point obvious, federal courts have. *E.g.*, *Air Atlanta Aero Eng'g Ltd. v. SP Aircraft Owner*, 637 F. Supp. 2d 185, 195-96 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (promissory estoppel claim is appropriate when agreement's validity is disputed).

Permitting multiple, even inconsistent, theories to proceed to trial has a firm grounding in Washington practice. *See Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 547, 442 P.3d 608 (2019). Trial judges address concerns over double recovery on verdict forms, through remittitur, in post-trial proceedings as in *Rekhter*, or in a written order, as here. *E.g., Conrad ex rel. Conrad v. Alderwood Manor*, 119 Wn. App. 275, 291, 78 P.3d 177 (2003); *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 405, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995); *see also Ngo v. Senior Operations, LLC*, No. C18-1313RSL, 2020 WL 2614737, at \*7 (W.D. Wash. May 22, 2020) (rejecting "double recovery" as basis to strike claim when procedures available to prevent it).

Striking an alternate theory on appeal is improper when no double recovery occurs and when it provides a basis to sustain the judgment. The Court should accept review of Division One's decision on promissory estoppel.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Such issue was simply not present in *Spectrum* where there was no doubt the plaintiff-glass company had a written, binding contract with the public utility on the very subject in dispute (utility rates). 129 Wn. App. at 314-15.

# B. Division One Erred in Precluding Reliance Damages for Breach of Contract

The Court should also grant review of Part III of Division One's decision concerning damages. To reiterate, the trial court awarded reliance damages – i.e., the expenses Pierce incurred (primarily lost stock/options) in preparing to perform the role of CDO. Reliance damages aim to place the breached-upon party in "as good a position as he would have been in had the contract not been made." Restatement (Second) of Contracts §344 (1981).

Pierce did not seek, nor did the trial court award him, future lost wages stemming from his termination. Even so, Division One held that, as a matter of law, an at-will employee who proves breach cannot recover reliance damages. 475 P.3d at 1021. In support, it cites two cases: *Ford v. Trendwest* and *Bakotich v. Swanson*, but fails to recognize that reliance and expectation damages are two distinct concepts. <sup>19</sup> *Ford* does not once refer to "reliance damages" in name or in substance, *see generally* 146 Wn.2d 146, and *Bakotich* makes mention of the measure only to distinguish it (with emphasis), 91 Wn. App. at 315. Simply put, Division One cites two cases

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Unlike here, the plaintiff-employees in *Ford* and *Bakotich* sought future lost earnings (expectation damages) stemming from withdrawn job offers. *Ford*, 146 Wn.2d 146, 157, 43 P.3d 1223 (2002); *Bakotich* 91 Wn. App. 311, 316-317, 957 P.2d 275 (1998). Neither case concerns a prayer for reliance damages for breach of a bilateral contract *during* the parties' relationship (nor a finding of bad faith, nor a bargained-for C-suite level position). Division One's conclusion that Pierce was awarded "exactly" the same damages as in these cases, 475 P.3d at 1020, is incorrect and confounding.

having nothing to do with reliance damages to erase the trial court's award of reliance damages. It does not explain why, as a matter of law, reliance damages are unavailable to employees. And in cases closely resembling this one, courts conclude otherwise. *See Glasscock v. Wilson Constructors, Inc.*, 627 F.2d 1065, 1066-69 (10th Cir. 1980) (affirming reliance damage award to plaintiff who lost profit-sharing points when he quit his job in reliance of defendant's promise); *Hunter v. Hayes*, 533 P.2d 952, 953-54 (Colo. App. 1975) (same as to lost wages from prior job).<sup>20</sup>

What is more, Washington courts regularly reject attempts to force the injured party to select one measure of damages over another. *See Rathke v. Roberts*, 33 Wn.2d 858, 880, 207 P.3d 716 (1949) (holding that trial judge erred in limiting plaintiff to contract price [expectation] damages, permitting plaintiff to prove the lost profits "he prayed for"); *Columbia Park Golf Course, Inc. v. City of Kennewick*, 160 Wn. App. 66, 84, 248 P.3d 1067 (2011) (declining to apply presumption that reliance damages were the only remedy for breach of contract to negotiate); *cf. No Ka Oi Corp. v. Nat'l 60 Minute Tune, Inc.*, 71 Wn. App. 844, 846, 863 P.2d 79 (1993) (declining rigid application of new business rule considering the unique marketplace).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Such ruling also subjects employment contracts to a different set of rules from other contracts, contrary to *Kloss v. Honeywell*, 77 Wn. App. 294, 298, 890 P.2d 480 (1995) and *Flower*, 127 Wn. App. at 27.

For example, the defendant-City in *Columbia Park* sought to limit its exposure for breach of an option contract by arguing that the lesser measure of damages (there, reliance) was the only remedy available to the plaintiff. 160 Wn. App. at 84. (This is precisely the ploy the Foundation attempts here, arguing that Pierce should be forced to select a measure it contends results in \$0.) Division Three rejected this argument, siding with "better reasoned authority" that upholds "usual contract principles" – namely, that the measure of damages available in a particular case will depend on the facts. 160 Wn. App. at 84-85; *accord Dunseath v. Hallauer*, 41 Wn.2d 895, 904, 253 P.2d 408 (1953); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Contracts §344 (1981) ("The interests described [expectation, restitution, reliance] are not inflexible limits on relief...."). As in these cases, Pierce should be permitted to select the measure suited to the facts of his case. Restatement (Second) of Contracts §349 (1981) (reliance damages stand as an "alternative" measure an injured party "has a right" to pursue); Wash. Pattern Instr., §303.05 (Notes on Use).

Next, on what appears to be an alternate basis for vacating Pierce's award, Division One finds reliance damages unavailable on the logic that Pierce would have lost his unvested stock and options anyway even had the Foundation performed as promised. 475 P.3d at 1020-21; *see also id.* at 1022-23 (suggesting Pierce can be awarded damages only *after* breach). This is

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The appropriate *measure* of damages – e.g., expectation, restitution, reliance, lost profits – should not be confused with the *amount* or valuation of such damages (a fact question), *Platts v. Arney*, 50 Wn.2d 42, 43, 309 P.2d 372 (1957) (selecting proper measure of damages is a question of law).

problematic for two reasons. First, the court misunderstands the very nature of reliance damages, which is to compensate a party for losses that occur *prior* to contract performance when the breaching party subsequently fails to perform. Specialty Asphalt & Constr., LLC v. Lincoln Cty., 191 Wn.2d 182, 197, 421 P.3d 925 (2018). Next, in second-guessing whether Pierce proved a causal connection between the Foundation's broken promises and damages (a fact question), the court improperly substituted its judgment for that of the fact finder. See Pardee v. Jolly, 163 Wn.2d 558, 571, 182 P.3d 967 (2008). Here, the trial judge's (unchallenged) findings are well within the evidence and its damages award should not have been second-guessed on appeal. See, e.g., Harmony at Madrona Park Owners Ass'n v. Madison Harmony Dev., *Inc.*, 160 Wn. App. 728, 253 P.3d 101 (2011) (affirming calculations based in part on round-number discounts, rejecting "mathematical certainty"); Aecon Bldgs. Inc. v. Vandermolen Const. Co., Inc., 155 Wn. App. 733, 743, 230 P.3d 594 (2009) (no abuse of discretion where defendant provides no alternative damage calculation at trial); Scully v. US WATS, Inc., 238 F.3d 497, 508, 512 (3d Cir. 2001) (affirming trial judge's valuation of cancelled stock options, which rejected both parties' calculations).<sup>22</sup>

To be sure, there are scant Washington decisions exploring a party's reliance interest in contract. Presumably, this is because losses incurred in

٠

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Indeed, the evidence here as to the number of shares/options at issue is unchallenged and incontrovertible. Ex. 81. Determining what shares/options would have vested had Pierce continued at Salesforce through November 2015 was a matter of arithmetic. *See* CP17.

preparation to perform on a contract (reliance) are typically less than those resulting from the entire deal going south (expectation). Here, Pierce left a higher-paying job for less compensation because being the Foundation's CDO was a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity that would entail pecuniary and non-pecuniary benefits beyond his salary. Because valuing this lost opportunity is difficult to measure, Division One was correct in approaching Pierce's damages with flexibility. See Reefer Queen Co. v. Marine Const. & Design Co., 73 Wn.2d 774, 781, 440 P.2d 448 (1968) ("where the fact of damage is firmly established, the wrongdoer is not free of liability because of difficulty in establishing the dollar amount"). However, it was unnecessary for Division One to remand for a new trial under a new test when Pierce's reliance damages provide a reasonable measure of his loss. See Arcadian Phosphates, Inc. v. Arcadian Corp., 884 F.2d 69, 74 (2d Cir. 1989) (reasoning that out-of-pocket reliance damages "are particularly appropriate where...the plaintiff cannot rationally calculate the benefit of the bargain.").

# VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Pierce respectfully requests that the Court deny the Foundation's petition for review of Division One's decision on contract liability, grant Pierce's request to review the court's decision on promissory estoppel and damages (Parts II and III), and reinstate the judgment.